In the Supreme Court of Florida

Case No. SC08-1360

Lower Court Case No. 4D07-1490

HAROLD GOLDBERG and ARLENE GOLDBERG,

Petitioners.

v.

MERRILL LYNCH CREDIT CORPORATION,

Respondent.

Consolidated with Lower Court Case No. 4D07-2436

AMY SUE FORMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

WORLD SAVINGS BANK, FSB,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS

* * * * *

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

* * * * *

Keith A. Goldbaum FRIEDMAN, ROSENWASSER & GOLDBAUM, P.A. 5355 Town Center Road, Ste. 801 Boca Raton, FL 33486 561.395.5511 Richard E. Shevitz Vess A. Miller COHEN & MALAD, LLP One Indiana Square, Ste. 1400 Indianapolis, IN 46204 317.636.6481

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

This Court has held that "those aggrieved by an unlicensed practitioner's misconduct may seek redress through civil proceedings. For instance, victims of the unlicensed practice of law are free to sue the allegedly unlicensed practitioner directly to recover fees and other damages. The civil courts have adequate resources and efficient procedures for resolving such issues and enforcing their judgments." The Homeowners in these consolidated cases brought suits directly in civil court to recover fees based on the unlicensed practice of law. Do the Homeowners have standing to bring these claims in the circuit courts, and does Florida recognize a private cause of action for such claims?

¹ Fla. Bar re Amendments to R. Regulating Fla. Bar (Proceedings Before a Referee), 685 So. 2d 1203, 1203 (Fla. 1996) (footnote omitted).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Petitioners in these consolidated appeals are homeowners (the "Homeowners") who received mortgage loans from the Defendant lenders (the "Lenders"). (1 Forman R. 1–8; 1 Goldberg R. 1–7.)² Apart from various loan-related fees, the Lenders charged the Homeowners a separately itemized \$50 to \$150 "document preparation fee" for preparing various legal instruments, including a mortgage, deed, and note. (1 Forman R. 2; 1 Goldberg R. 2.) The Lenders used non-lawyers to prepare these legal instruments but did not disclose that fact to the Homeowners at the time of the transactions. (1 Forman R. 2–3; 1 Goldberg R. 2–3.)

The Homeowners brought actions in the circuit courts for unjust enrichment and for money had and received seeking disgorgement of the "document preparation fee." (1 Forman R. 1–8; 1 Golberg R. 1–7.) The Homeowners argued that the Lenders, as non-lawyers, may not charge and retain fees for performing legal services, such as preparing mortgages and deeds.

The Lenders moved to dismiss the Homeowners' complaints for lack of subject matter jurisdiction or standing and for failure to state a claim. (1 Forman R.

² The record in *Forman v. World Savings Bank, FSB*, 4th DCA No. 4D07-2436, is cited in the form: "[Volume] Forman R. [Pages]." The record in *Goldberg v. Merrill Lynch Credit Corp.*, 4th DCA No. 4D07-1490, is cited in the form: "[Volume] Goldberg R. [Pages]."

9–26; 1 Goldberg R. 9–22.) Among other things, the Lenders argued that the circuit courts lacked jurisdiction to hear any claims relating to the unlicensed practice of law, and that only the Florida Bar could prosecute such claims.

The circuit courts granted the Lenders' motions to dismiss, holding that only this Court has jurisdiction to hear any claim based on the unlicensed practice of law and that Florida does not recognize a private cause of action to recover fees based upon unlicensed practice. (2 Forman R. 316–20; 1 Goldberg R. 73–76, 81–82.) The Homeowners' timely appealed to the Fourth District, where the appeals were consolidated.

On appeal, the Fourth District recognized that Rule 10-7.1 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, established by this Court, specifically provides for victims to bring private actions to recover fees and damages based on unlicensed practice. *Goldberg v. Merrill Lynch Credit Corp.*, 981 So. 2d 550, 551 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008), *reh'g & reh'g en banc denied*. The district court, however, concluded that the rule was silent as to when such a suit may be brought and held that "a supreme court determination on the unauthorized practice of law is a prerequisite" to such suits. *Goldberg*, 981 So. 2d at 552. The Fourth District affirmed the dismissals because the Lenders had not previously been prosecuted for their conduct by The Florida Bar or disciplined by this Court. The district court also

gave little weight to its prior decision in *Vista Designs, Inc. v. Melvin K. Silverman, P.C.*, 774 So. 2d 884 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), which upheld a counterclaim for disgorgement of a fee charged by a non-lawyer for legal services where there had been no prior Supreme Court unlicensed practice determination. *Goldberg*, 981 So. 2d at 552.

The Homeowners' moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc, or in the alternative for clarification and certification of a question of great public importance, pointing out, among other things, that the counterclaim upheld in *Vista Designs* was the same as the claim asserted by the Homeowners. The Homeowners' also re-emphasized that this Court held in *Florida Bar re Amendments to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (Proceedings Before a Referee)*, 685 So. 2d 1203, 1203 (Fla. 1996) [hereinafter *Florida Bar Amendments (1996)*], that victims are free to sue "allegedly" unauthorized practitioners "directly," and therefore the Fourth District's prerequisite of a prior unlicensed practice prosecution was in conflict. The Fourth District denied the rehearing, clarification, and certification motions. The Homeowners then appealed to this Court, which accepted jurisdiction on November 18, 2008.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court held in *Florida Bar Amendments* (1996) that "victims of the unlicensed practice of law are free to sue the *allegedly* unlicensed practitioner *directly* to recover fees and other damages." 685 So. 2d at 1203 (emphasis added). The Fourth District in this case erred when it deleted the words "allegedly" and "directly" from this holding and when it, for the first time, imposed the requirement that a victim of unlicensed practice may not sue the unlicensed practitioner for damages unless The Florida Bar first prosecutes the unlicensed practitioner and this Court makes an unlicensed practice finding.

The Fourth District erred by relying on a case in which this Court held that only The Florida Bar may file a complaint to *enjoin* the unlicensed practice of law. This case, however, is not an injunctive action, but an action for money damages. This Court's rules expressly provide that while a complaint for *injunctive* relief must be filed by The Florida Bar in this Court, nothing precludes a victim from bringing a private civil action against an unlicensed practitioner to recover fees and damages. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 10-7.1(d).

The Fourth District's decision should be reversed not only because it conflicts with this Court's precedent and rules but also because conditioning the availability of a civil damages remedy on a prior disciplinary adjudication by this

Court will arbitrarily deny some victims relief. The Florida Bar may lack the resources to prosecute every instance of the unauthorized practice of law throughout the State. It certainly may exercise its discretion to decline to prosecute some claims, and to resolve prosecutions as to other claims prior to obtaining a final adjudication in this Court. Making a victim's ability to bring a damages claim contingent upon a prior disciplinary prosecution by The Florida Bar will prevent some victims from obtaining a remedy based on factors outside their control, and undermine this Court's rules permitting such claims.

In addition, the Fourth District recognized below that civil courts may determine whether a party has engaged in unlicensed practice when the unlicensed practice is used as a defense to payment of a fee. The decision below provides no principled basis as to why circuit courts may not make such a determination when it is the basis of an affirmative claim for damages.

Finally, the Lenders on appeal below made several alternative arguments for affirming the trial courts' decisions under the "tipsy coachman" doctrine, arguing that even if the trial court decisions were wrong the outcome should remain. The Fourth District did not make any mention of these alternative bases in its opinion, and none of them support affirming. First, federal regulations on lending activities of federal banks do not preempt this State's regulation of the practice of law.

Second, this Court has recognized that the "pro se" exception to unlicensed practice does not apply when, as alleged, a charge is made for unlicensed practice. Finally, the voluntary payment doctrine is no bar to the Homeowners' claims. Accordingly, the Court should reverse the decision below and remand these actions.

ARGUMENT

I. "[V]ictims of the unlicensed practice of law are free to sue the allegedly unlicensed practitioner directly to recover fees."

This Court has held that "victims of the unlicensed practice of law are free to sue the *allegedly* unlicensed practitioner *directly* to recover fees and other damages." *Fla. Bar Amendments (1996)*, 685 So. 2d at 1203 (emphasis added). This language is clear: such civil damage suits may be brought "directly"—that is, without a prior disciplinary action instituted by The Florida Bar—and such civil suits may be brought against an "allegedly" unlicensed practitioner—that is, against one who has not previously been judged by this Court to have engaged in unlicensed practice.

The right of victims to directly bring private suits for damages and fees based on unlicensed practice, without a prior disciplinary prosecution, was acknowledged in *Florida Bar v. Warren*, 661 So. 2d 304, 305 (Fla. 1995). In *Warren* this Court held that restitution could not be awarded to victims in a

disciplinary action brought by The Florida Bar under the rules then in existence, but that individuals harmed by unlicensed practice were free to bring private civil suits against unlicensed practitioners. The Court made no mention of any prerequisite or other condition to such suits.

In 1996, in response to *Warren*, The Florida Bar petitioned this Court to amend Rule 10-7.1 to permit "this Court to order an unlicensed practitioner to pay restitution and costs to a 'complainant or other person' in cases where The Florida Bar is requesting civil injunctive relief." *Fla. Bar Amendments* (1996). At that time, this Court rejected the proposed amendment on the grounds that existing civil remedies were adequate and that

those aggrieved by an unlicensed practitioner's misconduct may seek redress through civil proceedings. For instance, victims of the unlicensed practice of law are free to sue the allegedly unlicensed practitioner directly to recover fees and other damages. The civil courts have adequate resources and efficient procedures for enforcing their judgments.

Id.

In 2004, this Court then approved an amendment to Rule 10.7-1 to allow the Court to order an unlicensed practitioner to pay restitution to victims in cases where the Florida Bar requested civil injunctive relief. *Amendments R. Regulating Fla. Bar*, 875 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 2004). But the amended rule also *expressly* provides that "[n]othing in this section shall preclude an individual from seeking redress

through civil proceedings to recover fees or other damages." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 10-7.1(d)(3). Thus, the amendment expressly preserved the right of "victims of the unlicensed practice of law . . . to sue the allegedly unlicensed practitioner directly to recover fees," as established in *Warren* and reaffirmed in *Florida Bar Amendments* (1996).

Since 1996, district courts have also recognized claims for restitution of fees for unlicensed practice. In Vista Designs, a Fourth District case, an unlicensed practitioner performed certain consulting services for a Florida company. 774 So. 2d at 884. When the unlicensed practitioner sued to recover fees for services rendered, the company defended on the basis that the services constituted the unlicensed practice of law. The company also counterclaimed for restitution of the fees it had already paid the unlicensed practitioner. The trial court found for the company on its defense but refused to award restitution for fees already paid. On appeal, the Fourth District upheld the defense but reversed the refusal to order restitution and remanded to the trial court to determine the amount of restitution to be paid. Thus, the Fourth District itself has previously upheld an affirmative claim for restitution of fees paid for unlicensed practice, without imposing the prerequisite of a prior disciplinary action.

Courts in other states have similarly allowed private civil suits for restitution of fees, without prior disciplinary actions, in cases nearly identical to this one. *See, e.g., Eisel v. Midwest BankCentre*, 230 S.W.3d 335 (Mo. 2007) (upholding a claim for recovery of document preparation fee from lender based on the unlicensed practice of law); *Am. Abstract & Title Co. v. Rice*, 186 S.W.3d 705, 708 (Ark. 2004) (holding that victims of unlicensed practice seeking recovery of document preparation fee from lender were not required to file complaint with UPL committee prior to bringing private civil suit for recovery of fee).

Despite this Court's holding in *Florida Bar Amendments* (1996), despite Rule 10-7.1(d) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, and despite its prior decision in *Vista Designs*, the Fourth District below held that the Homeowners were prohibited from bringing their claims for restitution of the fees they were charged because there had been no prior disciplinary prosecution by The Florida Bar and decision by this Court. But no case supports such a jurisdictional prerequisite.

The Fourth District relied on *Dade-Commonwealth Title Insurance Co. v.*North Dade Bar Ass'n, 152 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1963). Dade-Commonwealth, however, involved a local bar association's suit to *enjoin* the unlicensed practice of law in order to prevent its members from losing business to the unlicensed

practitioner. This Court's requirement that "Complaints for civil *injunctive* relief shall be by petition filed in the Supreme Court of Florida by The Florida Bar" does not apply to a civil *damages* action and does not "preclude an individual from seeking redress through civil proceedings *to recover fees or other damages*." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 10-7.1(a), (d) (emphasis added).

The cases relied upon by the Lenders below also do not support the Fourth District's prerequisite. Those decisions either involve a request for injunctive relief or do not address the issue of subject matter jurisdiction. *See Sigma Fin. Co. v. Inv. Loss Recovery Servs.*, 673 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (complaint to enjoin unauthorized practice of law); *Heilman v. Suburban Coastal Corp.*, 506 So. 2d 1088, 1099 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (disappointed bidder lacks standing to assert winning bidder's agent's unauthorized practice as grounds to set aside bid); *Metro. Dade County v. Dade County Employees*, 376 So. 2d 1206, 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (declining to decide whether acts constituted unlicensed practice where the issue was not briefed by the parties); *In re Losee*, 195 B.R. 785 (M.D. Fla. Bankr. 1996) (declining to impose *sanctions* for unauthorized practice because such a violation was not contemplated by the Bankruptcy Code).

The distinction between injunctive, disciplinary relief and civil actions for damages comports with the different functions served by each type of proceeding

and with the language of the Florida Constitution. This Court exercises exclusive jurisdiction to "regulate . . . admission . . . and . . . discipline"—a regulatory function. Art V, § 15, Fla. Const. Just as only the State may bring criminal prosecutions, only The Florida Bar as an arm of the Florida Supreme Court may bring injunctive and disciplinary actions for the unlicensed practice of law. For example, unlicensed practice may be the subject of either or both a complaint in this Court or a criminal prosecution. See Fla. Stat. § 454.23 (2006). Jurisdiction is vested over particular types of cases not over particular legal questions, which may arise in different types of cases. Similarly, the legal issue of unauthorized practice may arise in a civil action. See Florida Bar Amendments (1996). Just as trial courts may hear a claim for battery or wrongful death where the conduct alleged is criminal but unprosecuted, trial courts may hear private claims for damages where the underlying conduct is the unlicensed practice of law but there has been no prior prosecution or disciplinary action.

The Fourth District's prerequisite also will serve to arbitrarily deny some victims of the unauthorized practice relief simply because The Florida Bar in its prosecutorial discretion may choose not to prosecute a disciplinary action to this Court. The process for submitting a claim relating to unlicensed practice to the Bar does not provide the victim any substantive right to a hearing, but is like making a

police report. The Florida Bar may choose to close an investigation based on various factors including whether the conduct at issue is limited to past circumstances, and therefore where no injunctive remedy is necessary. The Bar's exclusive ability to seek the *prevention* and *punishment* of the unlicensed practice should not diminish victims' rights to *remedy* the harms done to them by the unlicensed practitioner.

II. The Lenders' Alternative Arguments Do Not Support Affirming the Decision Below.

On appeal to the Fourth District, the Lenders made several arguments for affirming the trial courts even if the trial courts' reasoning were wrong. The Fourth District did not adopt or even comment on any of these alternative bases. Nevertheless, and anticipating that the Lenders will again raise these alternative arguments in this Court, none supports affirming the opinion below.

A. The Claims Against World Savings Bank, FSB, Are Not Preempted.

The Court should reject the federal preemption argument made below by Defendant World Savings, which concerns only the *Forman* appeal, because it rests on the flawed premise that the ban on unlicensed practice is a credit-lending regulation rather than regulation of the practice of law. In addition, the ban on unlicensed practice affects a lender's credit activities only incidentally, if at all. Thus there is no preemption.

1. Preparing Legal Documents Is Not a Credit Lending Activity.

"[T]he authority of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board [(now OTS)] to preempt state laws is not limitless." *Fidelity Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. de la Cuesta*, 458 U.S. 141, 171–72 (1982) (O'Connor, J., concurring). "Nothing in the language of § 5(a) of HOLA . . . remotely suggests that Congress intended to permit the [OTS] to displace local laws . . . not *directly related* to savings and loan practices." *Id.* (emphasis added). Federal savings banks are not exempt from compliance with all state laws; OTS has only occupied the "field of *lending regulation* for federal savings associations." 12 C.F.R. § 560.2(a) (emphasis added).

Preparing legal instruments for a fee is not a credit-lending activity; it is the practice of law. Thus, limits on that practice are not preempted. *See Pinchot v. Charter One Bank*, 792 N.E.2d 1105 (Ohio 2003) (recording mortgage satisfactions is not a credit function, so state rules are not preempted). "Since the founding of the Republic, the licensing and regulation of lawyers has been left exclusively to the States and the District of Columbia within their respective jurisdictions." *Leis v. Flynt*, 439 U.S. 438, 442 (1979).

Contrary to World Savings' arguments below, federal regulations 12 C.F.R. §§ 560.2(b)(5) and (b)(10) do not expressly preempt Florida's regulation of the practice of law, and there is no presumption in favor of express preemption under HOLA or section 560.2(b). Rather, "the regulation is devoid of presumptive language" regarding express preemption. *Pinchot*, 792 N.E.2d at 1111.³

In particular, the document preparation fee here is not a "loan-related fee" like those listed in 560.2(b)(5) ("initial charges, late charges, prepayment penalties, servicing fees, and overlimit fees.") The present fee, which covers preparation of legal instruments conveying and securing real property, is a charge for preparing instruments to exchange land, not a charge for lending money. As the Michigan Court of Appeals held in *Konynenbelt v. Flagstar Bank*, 617 N.W.2d 706, 713 (Mich. App. 2000), *appeal denied*, 623 N.W.2d 596 (Mich. 2001), a similar fee for recording a mortgage satisfaction "has nothing to do with the lending of money."

Likewise, section 560.2(b)(10) does not preempt regulation of the document preparation fee. That section refers to state laws dealing with "[p]rocessing, origination, servicing, sale or purchase of, or investment or participation in, mortgages." Mortgage processing and origination involves gathering the necessary loan application information; servicing involves collecting payments on the loan; and sale, purchase, investment, and participation all refer to transactions involving

³ Chaires v. Chevy Chase Bank, 748 A.2d 34, 46 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2000), and Yonkers v. Savs. & Loan Ass'n, 396 F.3d 178, 183 (2d Cir. 2005), cited by World Savings below, do not support a presumption of express preemption.

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