#### IN THE

# Supreme Court of Florida

Case No. SC08-1360
District Court Case Nos. 4D07-1490 & 4D07-2436

#### HAROLD GOLDBERG, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

VS.

#### MERRILL LYNCH CREDIT CORPORATION, ET AL.,

Respondents.

On Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. CARLTON FIELDS, P.A.

Post Office Box 3239 CityPlace Tower

Tampa, Florida 33601-3239 525 Okeechobee Boulevard

Telephone: (813) 223-7000 Suite 1200

Facsimile: (813) 229-4133 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

Telephone: (561) 659-7070

Mark A. Brown Facsimile: (561) 659-7368

Florida Bar No.: 316210

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

Thus, under Plaintiffs' view, a defendant performing the same conduct throughout the state might be engaging in the unauthorized practice of law in one part of Florida, but not in another. Likewise, one defendant could prevail at trial while another suffers a defeat, thereby creating the bizarre situation where, for example, one lender could charge document preparation fees and another could

not. This anomalous result is exactly what the framers of Florida's Constitution sought to avoid by vesting this Court with "exclusive jurisdiction" to regulate the practice of law.

Notably, this Court confronted an analogous situation in <u>United Services</u>

Automobile Ass'n v. Goodman, Case No SC01-1700 (Fla. Apr. 19, 2002). There,
the Court granted an All Writs petition and directed the vacation of a series of
Orders entered by a trial court addressed to insurance company staff counsel.
Those trial courts Orders attempted to regulate the way certain attorneys practiced
in their insurance defense cases in one local jurisdiction. In quashing the Orders,
this Court wrote:

We grant the writ and direct that Judge Siegel vacate each of the orders prohibiting defense counsel who are employed as full-time insurance company staff counsel from using their individual firm names in pleadings and correspondence, or requiring insurance company staff counsel to disclose their insurance company affiliation in filing pleadings and other papers in Division 27 litigation over which Judge Siegel presides. We determine that these prohibitions encroach upon this Court's ultimate jurisdiction to adopt rules for the courts, see article V, section 2(a), specifically Rules of Judicial Administration, Rules of Civil Procedure, and Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

Goodman, Case No SC01-1700 (Fla. Apr. 19, 2002) (Order granting All Writs petition). In the same way, local orders determining what is and is not the practice of law would encroach upon this Court's exclusive jurisdiction.

It remains only to note that out-of-state precedent from other state supreme courts is in accord with existing Florida jurisprudence. See, e.g., Charter One Mortgage Corp. v. Condra, 865 N.E.2d 602, 607 (Ind. 2007); King v. First Capital Fin. Servs. Corp., 828 N.E.2d 1155, 1163-64 (Ill. 2005); Dressel v. Ameribank, 664 N.W.2d 151, 157-58 (Mich. 2003); Perkins v. CTX Mortgage Co., 969 P.2d 93, 99-100 (Wash. 1999). Cf. Am. Abstract & Title Co. v. Rice, 186 S.W.3d 705 (Ark. 2004) (determining that, under Arkansas law, Arkansas Supreme Court Committee on the Unauthorized Practice of Law did not have exclusive jurisdiction over unlicensed practice of law determinations); Eisel v. Midwest BankCentre, 230 S.W.3d 335, 338 (Mo. 2007) (holding that state statutory law precluded lender from charging document preparation fees), superseded by Mo. Rev. Stat. § 484.025 (2005) (expressly permitting lenders to charge document preparation fees).

B. Neither Florida Bar re Amendments to Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, 685 So. 2d 1203 (Fla. 1996), Nor Florida Bar v. Warren, 661 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1995) Supports Plaintiffs' Arguments.

In the Order granting review, this Court expressly referenced two cases: Florida Bar re Amendments to Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, 685 So. 2d 1203 (Fla. 1996), and Florida Bar v. Warren, 661 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1995). These two cases are entirely consistent with the Fourth District's decision and with this

Court's exclusive jurisdiction to decide whether certain conduct is the unauthorized practice of law.

Florida Bar re Amendments does not support Plaintiffs' position. At issue in Florida Bar re Amendments was whether the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar should be amended to permit this Court to order restitution to a complainant in a Bar proceeding. 685 So. 2d at 1203. This Court determined that court-ordered restitution was not necessary due to existing remedies and, therefore, disapproved the amendment.<sup>2</sup> Id. In making its decision, this Court stated:

In [Florida Bar v.] Warren, [661 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1995),] we stated that those aggrieved by an unlicensed practitioner's misconduct may seek redress through civil proceedings. For instance, victims of the unlicensed practice of law are free to sue the allegedly unlicensed practitioner directly to recover fees and other damages. The civil courts have adequate resources and efficient procedures for resolving such issues and enforcing their judgments.

Florida Bar re Amendments, 685 So. 2d at 1203 (footnote omitted).

Reading this decision in the light of existing precedent and the Florida Constitution, the decision can only be read as reaffirming this Court's decision in Warren, in which this Court authorized civil proceedings after there had been an

20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In a subsequent amendment, this Court authorized the referee to recommend that the Court order a respondent to pay restitution. <u>See Amendment to the Rules</u> Regulating The Florida Bar, 875 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 2004).

express finding that the conduct at issue constituted the unauthorized practice of law.

Indeed, a review of Florida Bar v. Warren, 661 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1995) confirms that this Court was not attempting to depart from decades of established precedent in a decision where its exclusive jurisdiction was only peripherally related to the issue before the Court. In Warren, this Court began by noting that, in its prior decision (which was the result of a petition filed by the Florida Bar), it enjoined the respondent from engaging in the unauthorized practice of law. 661 So. 2d at 305. With a prior determination regarding the respondent's conduct having already been made, this Court authorized private suits by those damaged by the respondent's actions. Id.

Thus, if a defendant is alleged to have engaged in conduct that has already been determined by this Court to be the unauthorized practice of law, an aggrieved plaintiff can seek redress through a direct action. In such an action, the trial court's only function would be to determine whether the defendant did, <u>in fact</u>, both lack a license to practice law and engage in conduct specifically prohibited by this Court in its threshold determination under its exclusive jurisdiction.

To escape the only logical interpretation of the <u>Florida Bar re Amendments</u> decision, Plaintiffs ask this Court to make a Herculean leap based on this Court's use of the word "allegedly" in the one sentence they grasp for support. In

particular, Plaintiffs assert that, by using the term "allegedly" to modify "unlicensed practitioner," this Court must have intended to let trial courts decide, as a matter of first impression, whether conduct is the unauthorized practice of law. Florida Bar re Amendments, 685 So. 2d at 1203. This argument, however, ignores both established law and simple rules of grammatical construction.

The <u>Florida Bar re Amendments</u> decision used the word "allegedly" to modify "unlicensed practitioner," <u>not</u> to modify "the unlicensed practice of law," as Plaintiffs would like this Court to believe. Accordingly, the decision accords with the trial court's limited function of deciding whether, as a factual matter, the defendant was engaging in conduct already determined by this Court to constitute the unauthorized practice of law.

Further, even if this Court had used the term "allegedly" to modify "the unlicensed practice of law," this Court would have to conclude that it intended to abandon its Constitutional authority and overturn, <u>sub silentio</u>, decades of precedent. This Court has expressly stated that it does not make such drastic reversals <u>sub silentio</u>. <u>Puryear v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 901, 905 (Fla. 2002).

In fact, the decision on review is fully consistent with this Court's precedents. The Fourth District never says that victims of the unlicensed practice of law are <u>not</u> free to sue the allegedly unlicensed practitioner directly to recover fees. Instead, it embraces that fact: "While we agree that the Rule provides for

such claims, we hold that the claims must await a decision by the Supreme Court of Florida as to whether the conduct constitutes the unauthorized practice of law." 981 So. 2d at 551. At the same time, the Fourth District's decision also maintains consistency with longstanding precedent and respects this Court's exclusive jurisdiction to determine what conduct constitutes the unauthorized practice of law.

Whether this Court would insist that a prior determination as to the unlicensed practice of law be (1) specific to an individual defendant (which Florida law currently supports), or (2) simply a general pronouncement as to particular conduct, the Fourth District's decision should be approved. That is because this Court has never made a previous determination, whether specific or general, as to the conduct at issue here.

# C. The Other Authorities Relied On By Plaintiffs Are Consistent With This Court's Exclusive Jurisdiction.

Plaintiffs also assert that Rule 10-7.1(d)(3) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar supports their argument. Plaintiffs are wrong. Rule 10-7.1 governs the procedure for unauthorized practice of law proceedings brought in this Court. Subsection (d)(3) of that Rule grants the referee authority to recommend that this Court order the respondent to pay restitution to the complainant. Within that provision, the Rule states: "Nothing in this section shall preclude an individual from seeking redress through civil proceedings to recover fees or other damages." R. Regulating Fla. Bar. 10-7.1(d)(3).

This provision, appearing in a subsection of a Rule outlining the referee's authority to recommend restitution to an aggrieved party simply assures this remedy does not preclude a separate suit for damages if this Court makes a determination that the unlicensed practice of law occurred. It was plainly not meant to, nor could it, displace the Florida Constitution and the long line of precedent prescribing the scope of this Court's constitutionally-granted exclusive jurisdiction. Instead, consistent with Warren, this Rule merely confirms that, where this Court has declared conduct to be the unauthorized practice of law, a plaintiff can seek redress in a civil proceeding, and Rule 10-7.1(d)(3) will not stand in the way of recovering damages.

Finally, Plaintiffs say that "[s]ince 1996, district courts have also recognized claims for restitution of fees for unlicensed practice." In. Br. at 9. They cite only one case, <u>Vista Designs</u>, <u>Inc. v. Silverman</u>, 774 So. 2d 884, 885 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), for this sweeping statement. Of course, the Fourth District itself did not find its earlier case to be a hurdle to reaching the correct decision that is on review here. See 981 So. 2d at 552. Neither should this Court.

At the outset, <u>Vista Designs</u> never addressed the issue of whether the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the parties' claims. More importantly, <u>Vista Designs</u> did not even address the key issue in this review proceeding, which is whether a trial court can determine as a matter of first impression whether certain conduct

constitutes the unauthorized practice of law. In particular, Vista Designs alleged that Silverman agreed to be its lawyer, that he was unlicensed, and that he engaged in conduct that this Court had already found to be the unauthorized practice of law, namely engaging in active litigation in Florida on behalf of a client without a license to practice law in Florida. See, e.g., Florida Bar v. Davide, 702 So. 2d 184, 184 (Fla. 1997) (preparation of complaint for third-party was the unauthorized practice of law); Florida Bar v. Miravalle, 761 So. 2d 1049, 1051 (Fla. 2000) (performing legal research for third-party was the unauthorized practice of law); Florida Bar v. Riccardi, 304 So. 2d 444, 445 (Fla. 1974) (taking of deposition for third-party was the unauthorized practice of law).

Thus, the <u>Vista Designs</u> decision, which involved only a factual dispute over whether the defendant engaged in conduct that had previously been determined by this Court to constitute the unauthorized practice of law (<u>i.e.</u>, drafting complaints for third-parties, taking depositions), does not run afoul of the this Court's exclusive jurisdiction. Here, however, it was conceded below that there are no cases in Florida holding that a lenders' preparation of documents memorializing its own mortgage constitutes the unauthorized practice of law. (Forman R3.41). Accordingly, where the issue is whether, as a matter of first impression, the Lenders' conduct constitutes the unauthorized practice of law, the case falls squarely into this Court's exclusive jurisdiction.

# III. THERE ARE NUMEROUS ALTERNATIVE REASONS WHY PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF.

The Lenders raised the following three grounds to support dismissal of Plaintiffs' claims in both the trial court and in the Fourth District. Plaintiffs have preemptively briefed these issues. Despite Plaintiffs' arguments to the contrary, the motion-to-dismiss record already supports approval of the Fourth District's conclusion on other grounds under the "tipsy coachman" doctrine. See Dade County Sch. Bd. v. Radio Station WQBA, 731 So. 2d 638, 644 (Fla. 1999).

In contrast, the record is <u>not</u> yet factually developed so as to allow this Court to make an ultimate determination as to whether the conduct at issue actually could constitute the unlicensed practice of law and, even if the Court were to determine that it could, whether a public policy exception is warranted. Indeed, that is what the rules and processes embodied in Chapter 10 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar would do, by allowing the development of a neutral factual record with input from multiple sources of information.

In such a proceeding, the Lenders would be able to offer evidence, for example, as to whether (1) the Lenders ever actually allow unlicensed individuals to prepare deeds, as alleged, (2) the forms used in these transactions are customary and consistent with federal law, (3) the use of the forms is often mandated by federal agencies; and (4) the benefit to the public of this conduct exceeds any risk to the public. The Lenders would also offer evidence as to what tasks and costs

might be included in the document preparation fee (e.g. printing, paper, photocopying, computer usage) so that any decision would be based on fact, rather than merely untested allegations in a complaint. Further, Plaintiffs would be obligated to specifically identify the documents at issue. At the initial pleadings stage, these documents have only been vaguely identified as documents "related to the issuance of mortgage loans. . . ." (Goldberg R1.1; Forman R1.1). That evidence has not been developed yet, on this motion-to-dismiss record. Many of Plaintiffs' allegations are sharply disputed. For instance, the Lenders contend that no deeds were prepared in these refinance transactions.

And, finally, interested third parties could participate in the proceeding. For instance, not only do the federal laws and regulations applicable to federal savings and loans preempt the claims here, as explained below, but the National Bank Act likewise preempts these claims against banks governed by that Act. See, e.g., Watters v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 550 U.S. 1 (2007) (explaining preemptive effect of National Bank Act).

### A. Plaintiff Forman's Claims Are Preempted By Federal Law.

Even if the trial court had jurisdiction under Florida law, the court would still lack jurisdiction over Plaintiff Forman's claims because those claims are preempted by federal law (this argument is limited to the claims that were appealed in Case No. 4D07-2436 below).

World Savings is a federal savings bank chartered under the federal Home Owners' Loan Act ("HOLA"), 12 U.S.C. § 1461 et seq. As such, World Savings is regulated by the Office of Thrift Supervision ("OTS"). See Turner v. First Union Nat'l Bank, 740 A.2d 1081, 1088 n.2 (N.J. 1999).

Pursuant to its authority under HOLA, the OTS has issued comprehensive and binding federal regulations that, pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, preempt Forman's claims and, therefore, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. See Florida Bar Re Advisory Opinion on Nonlawyer Representation in Sec. Arbitration, 696 So. 2d 1178, 1184 (Fla. 1997) (a federal agency may preempt this Court's authority to regulate the unauthorized practice of law); Boca Burger, Inc. v. Forum, 912 So. 2d 561, 568 (Fla. 2005) ("the issue of federal preemption is a question of subject matter jurisdiction").

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